
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO

Civil Action No.:  10-cv-03135-RPM-MJW

TIMOTHY P. FOX,
JON JAIME LEWIS,
JULIE REISKIN, and
COLORADO CROSS-DISABILITY COALITION, Colorado non-profit corporation,

Plaintiffs,

v.

MORREALE HOTELS, LLC., a Colorado limited liability company, and
SKETCH RESTAURANT, LLC d/b/a EL DIABLO, a Colorado limited liability company, 

Defendants.
                                                                                                                                                            

PLAINTIFFS’ REPLY TO DEFENDANTS’ MEMORANDUM IN OPPOSITION TO
PLAINTIFFS’ MOTION FOR ENTRY OF A PERMANENT INJUNCTION

                                                                                                                                                            

Plaintiffs, by and through undersigned counsel, hereby submit this Reply to Defendants’

Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion for Entry of a Permanent Injunction.

INTRODUCTION

In its Order on Cross Motions for Partial Summary Judgment (“Order”) [132], this Court

ruled that Defendants violated Title III of the Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. §

12181, et seq., when altering the El Diablo restaurant by making “a flat, accessible space into a

space with inaccessible areas.”  This Court determined, “In short, the alterations made to the El

Diablo Restaurant space created a new barrier to wheelchairs.”  Order at 3.  

Because the Defendants altered the restaurant in a manner that created inaccessibility for

customers who use wheelchairs that did not exist before, they violated 42 U.S.C. § 12183(a)(2). 
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Id.  As set forth in Plaintiffs’ Motion for Entry of Permanent Injunction (“Motion”) [133], the

ADA mandates that an injunction issue compelling Defendants to bring the El Diablo restaurant

into compliance with the ADA.  See 42 U.S.C. § 12188(a)(2).

Defendants argue two reasons why this Court should not issue the injunction Plaintiffs

seek.  The first “reason” is a re-hashing of arguments Defendants have made in their briefing on

the cross motions for summary judgment.  This Court rejected those arguments in its Order.  The

second reason is also invalid.  Defendants claim Plaintiffs have not been “irreparably harmed”

by Defendants’ construction of inaccessible dining areas during the 2010 renovation of El

Diablo.  In the Motion, as described further here,  Plaintiffs argue the ADA requires the issuance

of an injunction for violations of Title III without the need to show irreparable harm.  In any

event, Plaintiffs have been and continue to be irreparably harmed by the existence of newly

created dining areas that are not accessible to people who use wheelchairs.  

For the reasons set forth in Plaintiffs’ Motion and in this Reply, this Court should issue

the injunction Plaintiffs request requiring Defendants to make the inaccessible parts of El Diablo

accessible to customers who use wheelchairs.

ARGUMENT

I. This Court’s Order Is Not an Error

Defendants devote a significant part of their response to expressing their disagreement

with this Court’s Order.  A response to a motion seeking an injunction is not an appropriate

avenue for requesting this Court “revisit and reverse the Court’s ruling that the raised dining

areas in El Diablo violate the ADA.”  Response [138] at 9; see also Argument § III.A at 9-16

2
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(“This Court Should Deny The Motion Because The Order Upon Which It is Based Is Erroneous

And Should Be Withdrawn”).  Defendants may challenge this Court’s ruling via a separate

motion or by filing a notice of appeal.  D.C.Colo.LCivR 7.1 C. (“A motion shall not be included

in a response or reply to the original motion.”).  This Court should ignore Defendants’ arguments

requesting the Court reverse itself.

If this Court addresses Defendants’ arguments requesting it set aside its own rulings on

the cross motions for partial summary judgment, Plaintiffs incorporate the arguments made in

their Motion for Partial Summary Judgment [48] and Reply [104] and in response [116] and

surreply [127] to Defendants’ cross motion.  Those arguments are summarized here.

Defendants argue that the Court’s Order is wrong because Defendants never relied on the

defense that pertains to alterations found in 28 C.F.R. § 36.402 regarding feasibility, but rather

relied entirely on Section 5.4 of the ADAAG.1  This Court’s order is correct.  Defendants, not the

Court, are confused about the appropriate defenses to the ADA’s alterations requirements. 

Under the ADA’s alterations requirements, discrimination means a “failure to make

alterations in such a manner that, to the maximum extent feasible, the altered portions of the

facility are readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities, including individuals

who use wheelchairs.”  42 U.S.C. § 12183(a)(2); see also 28 C.F.R. § 36.402(a)(1) (using the

same language).  The phrase “to the maximum extent feasible” is defined in 28 C.F.R. §

1  Defendants incorrectly use the abbreviation “ADAAG” to refer to what has become the
Department of Justice Standards for Accessible Design (“Standards”).  The ADA Accessibility
Guidelines, or “ADAAG,” once adopted as final regulations by the Department of Justice,
become the Standards.  The terms are often used interchangeably.  Plaintiffs use the term
“Standards” to reference the final regulations.

3
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36.402(c).  Per the statutory and regulatory language, the only defense available to Defendants

for their failure to ensure that the alterations made to the El Diablo restaurant were readily

accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities, including individuals who use

wheelchairs, is that it was not feasible to alter the restaurant space in such a manner that the

altered portions were readily accessible.  Defendants have never argued this, no evidence exists

showing infeasibility, and Defendants have failed to make this showing now.

This Court reviewed all arguments in the cross motions for and against summary

judgment and fully addressed Defendants’ interpretation of Standards § 5.4.  The Court correctly

found that Defendants’ interpretation was contrary to the Alterations Statute,2 the Alterations

Regulations,3 and the applicable sections of the 1991 Standards.4  “When read in the context of

the statute, the regulations a[nd] the 1991 Standards, the disputed language in Section 5.4 does

not permit alterations that make the restaurant less accessible than it would have been before the

work was done.”  Order at 3.  This Court correctly held that Section 5.4 does not permit

Defendants to create “a new barrier to wheelchairs.”  Id. 

In addition, this Court reviewed all arguments in both cross motions and correctly found

that the 2010 Department of Justice Standards for Accessible Design were a clarification of the

1991 Standards applicable to this case.  See Order at 3 (“[The 2010 Standards provide] a

clarification of the exception applicable in this case.”).  Defendants’ Response simply reiterates

2  42 U.S.C. § 12183(a)(2).

3  28 C.F.R. § 36.402.

4  Standards § 4.1.6.

4
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arguments already fully briefed and decided by this Court.  No new arguments have been

presented.  No “revisiting” is needed.

The Court’s order is correct and should not be disturbed.  Defendants violated the ADA’s

alterations requirements entitling Plaintiffs to an injunction as set forth in 42 U.S.C. § 12188(a).

II. Equitable relief is appropriate in this case.

A. This Court should enter the injunction sought because the statute that
specifically provides for the injunction sought to remedy violations of the
ADA’s alterations requirements.

The sole remedy available to Plaintiffs under Title III of the ADA is the issuance of an

injunction.  42 U.S.C. § 12188(a).  The Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals has not yet specifically

answered the question of whether a violation of the ADA’s design and alterations requirement

mandates the issuance of an injunction.  In a recent decision, the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals

has provided guidance on the issue in an ADA Title III public accommodations wheelchair

access case.  Antoninetti v. Chipotle Mexican Grill, Inc., 643 F.3d 1165 (9th Cir. 2010), cert.

denied, 131 S.Ct. 2113 (2011).  Defendants correctly point out that the Antoninetti court “ha[d]

refrained from deciding whether the Disabilities Act forecloses the possibility that a court might

exercise its equitable discretion in fashioning relief for violations of the Act[,]” Response at 19

(citing Antoninetti at 1175), but, in the next sentence of the opinion, the Antoninetti Court made

clear, “[T]he Ninth Circuit] has stated, however, that the standard requirements for equitable

relief need not be satisfied when an injunction is sought to prevent the violation of a federal

statute which specifically provides for injunctive relief.”  Antoninetti at 1175 (citing decisions

from the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals).   

5
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Similarly, as cited in Plaintiffs’ Motion, this Court has held  that issuance of an

injunction for conduct that violates a statute that specifically provides for an injunction requires

only a determination that the conduct in question in fact does violate the statute.  See United

States v. Olsen, No. 93-M-1012, 1997 WL 718469 (D. Colo. July 15, 1997) aff’d, 133 F.3d 933

(10th Cir. 1998).  In addition, more recent decisions by this Court have held that, “because [the

statute] sets forth the criteria necessary for injunctive relief, the traditional equitable factors,

including a showing of irreparable harm, need not be proved.”  U.S. v. Morris, 09-cv-02381-

WYD-KMT, 2011 WL 588060 (D. Colo., Jan. 14, 2011) (citing  Atchison, Topeka & Santa Fe

R.R. Co. v. Lennen, 640 F.2d 255, 259 (10th Cir. 1981)).  “[U]pon statutory grant of authority to

issue injunctions, the traditional equitable factors, including a showing of irreparable harm, need

not be proved.”  U.S. v. Colorado Mufflers Unlimited, Inc., 03-cv-1310-WDM-CBS, 2007 WL

987459 (D. Colo., Mar. 30, 2007) (citing Atchison, Topeka & Santa Fe R.R. Co. v. Lennen, 640

F.2d 255 (10th Cir. 1981); Mical Communications, Inc. v. Sprint Tele Media, Inc., 1 F3d 1031

(10th Cir. 1063)). 

Here, Title III of the ADA not only provides for injunctive relief, it mandates such relief

by using the word “shall.”  42 U.S.C. § 12188(a)(2) (“injunctive relief shall include an order to

alter facilities to make such facilities readily accessible to and usable by individuals with

disabilities”).  Defendants engaged in prohibited conduct by creating “a new barrier to

wheelchairs,” Order at 3, and thus an injunction is mandated. 

The cases cited by Defendants are not to the contrary.  Defendants rely on Heideman v.

6
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South Salt Lake City,5 Colo. Envtl. Coal. v. Office of Legacy Mgmt.,6 and IWAPI, Inc. v.

Maldonado7 to suggest that in order to obtain injunctive relief, Plaintiffs must prove four discrete

elements.  In only one of those cases, IWAPI, though, was injunctive relief specifically

authorized in an applicable statute.  In IWAPI, the statute authorizing issuance of an injunction

provided: “The several courts having jurisdiction of cases under this title may grant injunctions

in accordance with the principles of equity to prevent the violation of any right secured by

patent, on such terms as the court deems reasonable.”  See 35 U.S.C. § 283 (emphasis added). 

Here, however, 42 U.S.C. § 12188 does not include the requirement that the court analyze

equitable principles prior to issuing an injunction.  As noted, instead, it mandates the injunction

the exact to be issued: “In cases of violations of . . . section 12183(a) of this title, injunctive

relief shall include an order to alter facilities to make such facilities readily accessible to and

usable by individuals with disabilities . . . .”  42 U.S.C. § 12188(a)(2).

B. The equities weigh heavily in favor of requiring Defendants to remedy the
unlawful condition of the El Diablo restaurant.

If this Court determines that weighing the equities is required or that a separate showing

of irreparable harm must be demonstrated prior to issuing an injunction in this case, the equities

weigh heavily in favor of issuing the requested injunction.  Defendants are correct that typically

the following elements are required in order to obtain injunctive relief: (1) an irreparable injury,

5  348 F.3d 1182.

6  2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 120310; 2011 WL 4940662.

7  2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 49580; 2011 WL 1719308.

7

Case 1:10-cv-03135-RPM-MJW   Document 140   Filed 12/14/11   USDC Colorado   Page 7 of 19



(2) inadequacy of legal remedies, (3) a balance of hardship favoring Plaintiffs, and (4)

advancement of the public interest.  See generally eBay, Inc. v. MercExchange, L.L.C., 547 U.S.

388, 391 (2006).

1. Irreparable Injury.

The Tenth Circuit has held, although “[t]he concept of irreparable harm . . .  does not

readily lend itself to definition . . . the injury must be both certain and great . . . not merely

serious or substantial.”  Prairie Band of Potawatomi Indians v. Pierce, 253 F.3d 1234, 1250

(10th Cir. 2001) (citations omitted).  However, “irreparable harm is often suffered when the

injury cannot be adequately atoned for in money[.]” Id. (citations omitted).  Plaintiffs have

suffered and continue to suffer irreparable harm as a result of the unlawful condition Defendants

created in the El Diablo restaurant.  That harm cannot be remedied by paying money because

monetary damages are not available under the ADA.  

Further, the Tenth Circuit has repeatedly held that “‘[w]hen the evidence shows that the

defendants are engaged in, or about to be engaged in, the act or practices prohibited by a statute

which provides for injunctive relief to prevent such violations, irreparable harm to the plaintiffs

need not be shown.’”  Star Fuel Marts, LLC v. Sam's East, Inc., 362 F.3d 639, 651 (10th Cir.

2004) (quoting Kikumura v. Hurley, 242 F.3d 950, 963 (10th Cir. 2001)); see also Mical

Communications, Inc. v. Sprint Telemedia, Inc., 1 F.3d 1031, 1035 (10th Cir. 1993).

Since the El Diablo restaurant opened in August of 2010, Plaintiffs have been subjected

to discrimination as a result of Defendants’ creation of inaccessible raised seating sections and

have been deterred from returning to the restaurant until the discrimination caused by the

8
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presence of those raised seating sections is remedied.  See Supp. & 3d Am. Compl. [126] ¶¶ 63,

75, 100, 101, 139, 140.  Defendants claim to provide “wheelchair-accessible dining in the

restaurant’s street-level space[,]”8 and attempt now to introduce additional evidence of these

disputed facts, but, even if true, that does not negate the fact that “Defendants made a flat,

accessible space into a space with inaccessible areas.”  Order at 2.  Unlike non-disabled

customers who may choose to sit anywhere in the restaurant, customers, like Plaintiffs, who use

wheelchairs, are relegated to only a portion of the dining area.  Plaintiffs are denied the “full and

equal enjoyment of the goods, services, facilities, privileges, advantages, or accommodations of”

El Diablo, 42 U.S.C. § 12182(a), because Defendants altered “portions of [El Diablo that are not]

readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities, including individuals who use

wheelchairs.”  42 U.S.C. § 12183(a)(2); Order at 3.  This harm suffered by Plaintiffs is exactly

what the statute was designed to prevent and occurs every time one of the Plaintiffs attempts to

dine at or dines at El Diablo.  42 U.S.C. § 12183(a)(2); see also Smith v. Pacific Properties and

Development Corp., 358 F.3d 1097, 1104 (9th Cir. 2004) (recognizing “the dignitary harm to a

disabled person of observing such overtly discriminatory conditions.”).  The presence of the

8  Plaintiffs dispute whether these tables actually conform to the ADAAG requirements
for accessible tables.  Nevertheless, in order to streamline final resolution of this case, Plaintiffs
have voluntarily dismissed those claims [134].  This case and the injunction sought pertain solely
to making the inaccessible dining areas accessible.  Plaintiffs submit if Defendants had built it
right in the first place, they would not have had to go to such great lengths to try to explain how
having a portion of the restaurant that might be accessible if they move tables around if a person
in a wheelchair requests it.  See El Diablo Restaurant Policy Regarding Seating of
Mobility-Impaired Patrons (29-1) ¶¶ 2-4.  It is Plaintiffs’ sincere hope that Defendants have
learned from this case that it is not permissible over twenty years after the passage of the ADA to
require a person using a wheelchair to have to ask and wait for access.

9
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inaccessible dining areas built in 2010 is akin to a sign which reads, “People in wheelchairs may

access a portion of El Diablo; everyone else may access all.”  “The alterations made to the El

Diablo Restaurant space created a new barrier to wheelchairs.”  Order at 3.  This is the harm

Plaintiffs have suffered and continue to suffer.

Finally, Plaintiffs all work within a mile of the El Diablo restaurant, located at 101

Broadway.  Plaintiff Fox uses a motorized wheelchair and his law office is directly across

Broadway from the restaurant, a place from which he can see El Diablo every time he is in his

office.  Supp. & 3d Am. Compl. ¶¶ 12, 45; Fox Dec. (127-7). The offices of Plaintiff CCDC,

where Plaintiffs Lewis and Reiskin work, are located at 6th Avenue and Broadway, five blocks

away from El Diablo.  Id. ¶ 71.  Plaintiff Lewis lives in an apartment at 11th and Broadway. Id.

¶¶ 76, 78.  Plaintiffs Reiskin and Lewis both use motorized wheelchairs and use RTD’s bus

service for transportation.  Id. ¶¶ 15, 18, 77, 108.  CCDC is a disability rights advocacy

organization whose members include people who use wheelchairs.  Id. ¶ 142.  Its mission and

purpose are tied directly to enforcement of the ADA.  Id. ¶¶ 142-149.  

In the face of multiple positive reviews of both the food and ambiance of El Diablo in the

media, see, e.g., Laura Shunk, At one year, says owner Jesse Morreale, El Diablo ain’t broke,

Westword, Aug. 4, 2011, (hereinafter “Ain’t Broke”),9 Plaintiffs want to go the restaurant, but are

unwilling to return because they know they will be denied full enjoyment of the restaurant.  They

know it violates the law.  The ADA does not “require a person with a disability to engage in a

futile gesture if such person has actual notice that a person or organization covered by this

9  http://blogs.westword.com/cafesociety/2011/08/el_diablo_at_one_year.php.

10
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subchapter does not intend to comply with its provisions.”  42 U.S.C. § 12188(a)(1).  As the

perpetuation of this litigation itself demonstrates, Defendants have made clear that in the absence

of the requested injunction, they will not make the inaccessible seating areas accessible to people

who use wheelchairs.  See Response at 23 (defendants have yet to consider “the cost-benefit

analysis of closing El Diablo permanently in lieu of spending a cost-prohibitive sum and

suffering a loss from closure due to reconstruction in order to comply with a permanent

injunction”); Morreale Dec. ¶¶ 17-18 (138-1) (same). 

The irreparable harm that the individual Plaintiffs are suffering is the inability to

patronize one of Denver’s most popular and trendy restaurants that is within blocks of their

respective offices and which they see and pass by routinely without suffering discrimination on

the basis of their disabilities.  Likewise, CCDC’s members must continue to endure the existence

of a popular, profitable restaurant in the neighborhood of its offices whose owners discriminated

by creating new inaccessible barriers and who are intent upon continuing the discrimination. 

Such discrimination is unlawful and cannot be abated absent the injunction Plaintiffs seek.  The

harm is both irreparable and continuing. 

2. Inadequacy of Legal Remedies.

Plaintiffs’ sole remaining claim in this case is that Defendants’ elevated seating sections

violate Title III of the ADA.  This Court agrees.  Under Title III, however, monetary damages in

private lawsuits are not available.  42 U.S.C. § 12188(a); see Lewis v. Burger King, 361 Fed.

Appx. 937, n.1 (10th Cir. 2010) (“the district court correctly reasoned that monetary relief is not

available to private litigants under Title III of the ADA”).  “Injunctive relief is the sole remedy

11
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available to private parties under the [Title III.]” Antoninetti, 643 F.3d at 1174.  Given the nature

of the injury, the sole legal remedy that is adequate is the issuance of the injunction sought.  This

remedy is specifically authorized by the statute.  Nothing, short of the injunction sought, would

permit Plaintiffs and other wheelchair users to fully and equally enjoy the El Diablo restaurant. 

Nothing short of the injunction sought will make El Diablo readily accessible to and usable by

people who use wheelchairs.

3. Balance of Hardships.

Defendants’ assertion that “Plaintiffs would suffer no hardship were this Court to deny

the Motion,” (Response at 21) is simply not true.  As explained above, Plaintiffs are suffering

discrimination as a result of Defendants’ unlawful creation of inaccessible raised seating

sections.  The restaurant “is less accessible” than what the ADA requires because Defendants

created “a new barrier to wheelchairs.”  Order at 3.   Plaintiffs and others who use wheelchairs

are left with the option of visiting the El Diablo restaurant and being denied equal treatment, or

continuing to be deterred from patronizing one of Denver’s most popular restaurants because

they will face discrimination if they go.  

If this Court grants the injunction Plaintiffs seek, Defendants will be required to remedy

the discriminatory condition in the restaurant.  Defendants should never have created

inaccessibility in the first place.  Moreover, if this Court grants the injunction, Defendants would

be obligated to remedy the raised seating sections once and for all, whereas Plaintiffs have

suffered harm each and every time they sought to dine at or dined at El Diablo and are

discriminated against as long as Defendants’ created barriers remain.  

12
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Defendants have argued the interior dining area of the El Diablo restaurant is

approximately 3,390 square feet; the raised seating sections constitute approximately 840 square

feet, or approximately 420 square feet each.  Response at 4 (citing Morreale Dec. ¶ 11). Since

these raised seating sections are on opposing sides of the restaurant, it may even be possible for

Defendants to continue operations while work is accomplished.  Except for histrionic

suppositions that “defendants might be required to close El Diablo altogether,” Response at 21

(citing Morreale Dec. ¶ 17) (emphasis added), Defendants have come forward with no evidence

at all showing the degree of harm they will suffer by making El Diablo comply with the law, and

they allowed the expert witness designation deadline to pass without designation.  See also

Response n. 7 (“In the event, this Court declines to withdraw the Order, defendants request the

opportunity to submit evidence on this issue for the Court’s consideration.”)

Finally, the ADA’s barrier removal provisions and regulations show that the cost of

removing barriers is a factor to be considered only in cases involving existing facilities, not

alterations such as Defendants’ restaurant.  As discussed in Section I.A., supra, the only defense

available to defendants who have failed to alter a facility in such a manner that it is readily

accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities is that it was infeasible to do so.  See 42

U.S.C. § 12183(a).  There is no explicit or implicit consideration of the costs associated with

remedying the unlawful alteration.  In contrast to the barrier removal requirements of public

accommodations in facilities that have not been altered, with respect to alterations, Congress

chose to require that alterations be accessible in the first instance.  There is no evidence in the

record of Defendants’ resources or the costs of alterations because Defendants did not provide

13
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any.  It was their burden to prove infeasibility.  They chose not to.

Since Defendants’ restaurant is an alteration, it should have been readily accessible in the

first place.  To permit Defendants to create a new barrier to wheelchairs, then to keep that barrier

in place because removing it “might” cost Defendants money would frustrate both the letter and

spirit of the ADA.  Doing so would reward Defendants for ignoring the alterations law.  See

Moeller v. Taco Bell Corp., No. C 02–5849 PJH, 2011 WL 4634250, *20 (N.D. Cal. Oct. 5,

2011) (“The fact that it is difficult to comply with a law does not make it legal to violate it.”).

D. Advancement of the Public Interest

The ADA was enacted “to provide a clear and comprehensive national mandate for the

elimination of discrimination against individuals with disabilities [and] to provide clear, strong,

consistent, enforceable standards addressing discrimination against individuals with

disabilities[.]” 42 U.S.C. § 12101(b).  The ADA is “is geared to the future--its goal being that,

over time, access will be the rule, rather than the exception. Thus, the Act only requires modest

expenditures . . . to provide access to existing facilities not otherwise being altered, but requires

all new construction and alterations to be accessible.”  28 C.F.R., pt. 36, app. C (Guidance on

ADA Regulation on Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Disability by Public Accommodations

and in Commercial Facilities Originally Published on July 26, 1991).  

Requiring Defendants to comply with the ADA’s expressed public policy of eliminating

discrimination against individuals with disabilities, see 42 U.S.C. § 12101(b), is squarely in the

public interest.  Defendants should not now be allowed to maintain the inaccessible raised

seating sections they created.

14
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Moreover, beyond the three named Plaintiffs, Plaintiff CCDC has other members who

use wheelchairs who attend CCDC events and gatherings, and the Denver metro area is home to

more individuals who use wheelchairs.  Each and every one of these individuals who uses a

wheelchair is subjected to the same discrimination Plaintiffs suffered and continue to suffer as a

result of the discriminatory conditions Defendants created.  All other patrons or potential patrons

of the El Diablo restaurant who use wheelchairs suffer this same discrimination.  That same

discrimination would be remedied by the injunction sought by the three individual Plaintiffs and

CCDC in this case.  Defendants’ assertion that “plaintiffs are doing nothing more than advancing

the political agenda of a discrete and empowered minority of three that has demonstrated no real

interest in eating a meal at El Diablo,” Response at 22, besides having no basis in fact or in the

record, could not be further from the truth.  Plaintiffs seek what the ADA promised twenty-one

years ago -- when public accommodations are designed new or altered, they must be made

readily accessible to and usable by individuals who use wheelchairs.  That applies to every

altered facility “or part thereof ,” not the just the areas Defendants think are sufficient.

Defendants’ exaggerated parade of horribles aside,10 Defendants can make the two

inaccessible seating areas accessible.  As stated above, Defendants have provided no financial

information at all in this case.  If local media reports are to be believed, Defendants’ El Diablo

business has done well for itself.   See, e.g., Ain’t Broke (According to Jesse Morreale,

Defendants’ principal, “‘Enough people eat [at El Diablo] in one night to fill the Ogden

10  “Depending upon the time required to complete the reconstruction of the restaurant
and the cost, defendants might be required to close El Diablo altogether.”  Response at 21 &
Morreale Dec. ¶ 17.

15
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Theater[.]’”).  After a year in operation, “the crowds -- which made it nearly impossible to nab a

bar seat that first week of business -- continue to pack the place.”  Id.  In fact, Defendants are

“attracting enough people to boast a two-and-a-half hour wait on . . . Tuesday[s,]” and have

“created a community gathering spot that packs in both families with young children and

drinking hipsters.”  Id.  The only people who are not packing the place are people who use

wheelchairs.  

Since the restaurant opened, Defendants have also opened an outdoor patio seating area,

after, at its own expense, obtaining a variance to Denver’s right-of-way.  See Morreale Dec.

[101] ¶ 15.  In addition, Defendants feature a back patio, complete with astroturf, which they

utilize to host special events.  Ain’t Broke.  In that back patio, Defendants have hosted live lucha

libre wrestling as part of a Cinco de Mayo event, during which the restaurant served between

3,000 and 5,000 guests.  See Ain’t Broke.  Defendants have also hosted a Mexican Cultural Fair,

several tequila dinners, annual tattoo artist skull shows, and Holiday Spectacular events, and

others, which, by all accounts, have been resounding successes.

III. Time for Compliance.

Defendants request that, if this Court grants Plaintiffs’ Motion, that the Court permit

Defendants sufficient time to comply.  Plaintiffs ask that this Court impose a reasonable deadline

by which Defendants must comply.  Defendants filed a twenty-five page response to Plaintiffs’

Motion, yet Defendants request the opportunity to “brief the issue of the amount of time needed

to comply” if the Court grants the Motion.  Response at 23.  This case has been over-briefed by

Defendants, including their opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion for a Stay [68], which would have

16
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obviated the need for or, at least, postponed much of the briefing and discovery.  The Court

decided the key issue in this case.  Time and resources will all be better spent ensuring

compliance with the Order and providing required accessibility to people who use wheelchairs. 

Plaintiffs believe and request that approximately three months would be sufficient for

Defendants to comply.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Plaintiffs’ Motion should be granted.
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Dated: December 14, 2011 Respectfully submitted,

 /s/ Kevin W. Williams                                            
                                                                   Kevin W. Williams

Andrew C. Montoya
Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition
655 Broadway, Suite 775
Denver, CO 80203
Telephone:  (303) 839-1775
Facsimile: (303) 839-1782
E-mail: kwilliams@ccdconline.org
E-mail: amontoya@ccdconline.org

                                            
Attorneys for Plaintiff
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on December 14, 2011, I electronically filed the foregoing document
with the Clerk of Court using the CM/ECF system, which will provide electronic service to the
following:

Philip L. Gordon
Daniel M. Combs
LITTLER MENDELSON
1900 Sixteenth Street, Suite 800
Denver, CO 80202
pgordon@littler.com
dcombs@littler.com

 /s/ Kevin W. Williams       
Kevin W. Williams
Legal Program Director
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